
Scan the code above or visit www.nwleics.gov.uk/meetings 
for a full copy of the agenda.

Meeting PLANNING COMMITTEE

Time/Day/Date 6.30 pm on Tuesday, 2 July 2019

Location Council Chamber, Council Offices, Coalville

Officer to contact Democratic Services (01530 454512)

AGENDA
Item Pages

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

2. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

Under the Code of Conduct members are reminded that in declaring 
disclosable interests you should make clear the nature of that interest and 
whether it is pecuniary or non-pecuniary.

3. MINUTES 

To confirm and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 4 June 2019 3 - 6

4. PLANNING APPLICATIONS AND OTHER MATTERS 

Report of the Interim Head of Planning and Infrastructure. 7 - 10

http://www.nwleics.gov.uk/meetings


Index of Applications to be Considered

Item Application Number and Details Recommendation Page

A1 18/01890/OUTM: Employment development for uses B1 (c), B2 and 
B8 (outline with details of part access included)

Land East Of Regs Way Coalville Leicestershire LE67 1GH 

PERMIT subject 
to S106 
Agreement

11 - 32

A2 19/00747/REMM: Reserved matters approval (access, appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale) (outline planning permission 
13/00956/OUTM) for the enabling works associated with Phases A1, 
A2 and A3 including the demolition of the buildings at Upper 
Grange Farm and The Bungalow; regrading of the land; installation 
of the Gateway, the street to the west of the Gateway, and junction 
of the street to the east of the Gateway; installation of surface and 
foul water drainage infrastructure; landscaping; and diversion of 
Public Rights of Way

Land South Of Grange Road Hugglescote Leicestershire LE67 2BT 

PERMIT 33 - 44

 



1

Chairman’s initials

MINUTES of a meeting of the PLANNING Committee held in the Council Chamber, Council 
Offices, Coalville on TUESDAY, 4 June 2019 

Present:  Councillor N Smith (Chairman)

Councillors R Boam, A J Bridgen, R Canny, J Clarke, D Everitt, J Hoult, D Harrison, J Legrys and 
R Johnson (Substitute for Councillor D E J Tebbutt) 

In Attendance: Councillors J Geary D E J Tebbutt

Officers:  Mr C Elston, Miss S Odedra, Mr J Mattley, Mrs M Meredith and Mr J Knightley

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors D Tebbutt and M B Wyatt.

2. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

In accordance with the Code of Conduct, Members declared the following interests:

Councillor J Legrys declared that he had been lobbied without influence in respect of 
items A1, A2 and A3, application numbers 17/01802/OUTM, 19/00017/FUL and 
19/00572/OUT.  He also declared a non-pecuniary interest in item A2, application number 
19/00017/FUL as he lived close to the site.

3. MINUTES

Consideration was given to the minutes of the meeting held on 17 April 2019.

It was moved by Councillor J Legrys, seconded by Councillor N Smith and

RESOLVED THAT:

The minutes of the meeting held on 17 April 2019 be approved and signed by the 
Chairman as a correct record.

4. PLANNING APPLICATIONS AND OTHER MATTERS

Consideration was given to the report of the Head of Planning and Infrastructure, as 
amended by the update sheet circulated at the meeting.

5.  A1
17/01802/OUTM: RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT FOR UP TO 30 DWELLINGS 
INCLUDING OPEN SPACE, LANDSCAPING, AND HIGHWAYS AND DRAINAGE 
INFRASTRUCTURE (OUTLINE - ALL MATTERS OTHER THAN PART ACCESS 
RESERVED)
Land To The East Of Forest Road Coalville Leicestershire  

Officer’s Recommendation: PERMIT subject to S106 Agreement

The Principal Planning Officer presented the report to members.

Ms M Stacey, applicant’s agent, addressed the meeting, highlighting the benefits of the 
scheme and the lack of objections to the proposals.

3

Agenda Item 3.



2

Chairman’s initials

Councillor R Johnson, ward member, addressed the meeting, expressing concerns 
regarding the timing of the application, the viability assessment and the play area 
provision.

In determining the application, members had regard to the obligations around provision of 
play areas, the affordable housing allocation and the housing mix.

The officer’s recommendation was moved by Councillor N Smith and seconded by 
Councillor R Boam.

The Chairman then put the motion to the vote. A recorded vote being required, the voting 
was as follows:

Permit as per officer's recommendation (Motion)
Councillor Nigel Smith For
Councillor Russell Boam For
Councillor Alexander Bridgen For
Councillor Rachel Canny For
Councillor John Clarke For
Councillor David Everitt For
Councillor Jim Hoult For
Councillor Dan Harrison For
Councillor John Legrys Against
Councillor Russell Johnson Conflict Of Interests
Carried

RESOLVED THAT:

The application be permitted in accordance with the recommendation of the Head of 
Planning and Infrastructure.

6.  A2
19/00017/FUL: CHANGE OF USE OF A1 (SHOPS) USE TO AN A5 (HOT FOOD 
TAKEAWAY) USE
119 Belvoir Road Coalville Leicestershire LE67 3PH

Officer’s Recommendation: PERMIT

The Principal Planning Officer presented the report to members.  

Mr K Davis, objector, addressed the meeting expressing concerns regarding noise 
nuisance, parking concerns, the clustering of takeaways in a residential area, the opening 
hours and fire safety of the bedroom above the kitchen area. 

Mr A Statham, applicant’s agent, addressed the meeting, highlighting the lack of objection 
from statutory consultees.

Councillor J Geary, ward member, addressed the meeting.  He expressed concerns 
regarding the adequacy of the noise insulation and fire risk insulation, and the checks that 
would be made following completion of the works. He noted that the extractor unit had 
already been fitted and had been cemented to the wall which would cause vibration in the 
wall.  He also expressed concerns regarding parking provision and the impact on highway 
safety.  He requested that members defer the application so that assurances could be 
provided to members regarding the safety of the proposals.

The Head of Planning and Infrastructure advised members that the requirements relating 
to noise and fire insulation would be subject to Buildings Regulations approval and the 

4



3

Chairman’s initials

applicant would be required to have a risk assessment completed and consult with the fire 
authority.

In determining the application, members had regard to the comments made by the 
objector, the ward member, council’s officers, the quality of the drawings submitted by the 
applicant and the concerns raised regarding noise nuisance and fire safety.

It was moved by Councillor N Smith and seconded by Councillor J Legrys that the 
application be deferred to enable members to visit the site and to seek comments from the 
fire authority.

The Chairman then put the motion to the vote.  A recorded vote being required, the voting 
was as follows:

Defer the application (Motion)
Councillor Nigel Smith For
Councillor Russell Boam For
Councillor Alexander Bridgen For
Councillor Rachel Canny For
Councillor John Clarke For
Councillor David Everitt For
Councillor Jim Hoult For
Councillor Dan Harrison For
Councillor John Legrys For
Councillor Russell Johnson For
Carried

RESOLVED THAT:

The application be deferred to enable members to visit the site and to seek comments 
from the fire authority.

7.  A3
19/00572/OUT: ERECTION OF ONE DWELLING (OUTLINE - DETAILS OF ACCESS 
AND LAYOUT FOR APPROVAL)
189 Main Street Thringstone Coalville Leicestershire LE67 8NE

Officer’s Recommendation: PERMIT

The Planning Officer presented the report to members.

Mr A Large, applicant’s agent, addressed the meeting, referring to the lack of objections 
from statutory consultees.

Councillor D Everitt, ward member, addressed the meeting.  He welcomed the proposals 
and sought assurances that the application would be brought before the committee should 
any changes be made to the outline permission.

The Head of Planning and Infrastructure advised that if the reserved matters application 
proposed a two storey dwelling, it would be reported back to Planning Committee.

The officer’s recommendation was moved by Councillor J Hoult and seconded by 
Councillor J Legrys.

The Chairman then put the motion to the vote.  A recorded vote being required, the voting 
was as follows:
  

5



4

Chairman’s signature

Officer's recommendation (Motion)
Councillor Nigel Smith For
Councillor Russell Boam For
Councillor Alexander Bridgen For
Councillor Rachel Canny For
Councillor John Clarke For
Councillor David Everitt Conflict Of Interests
Councillor Jim Hoult For
Councillor Dan Harrison For
Councillor John Legrys For
Councillor Russell Johnson For
Carried

RESOLVED THAT:

The application be permitted in accordance with the recommendation of the Head of 
Planning and Infrastructure.

8. TO CONSIDER THE MAKING OF A TREE PRESERVATION ORDER (TPO) 177 
GREENHILL ROAD, COALVILLE

The Head of Planning and Infrastructure presented the report to members.

In reaching a decision, members had regard to the potential size of the tree and the 
appropriateness of its location.

The officer’s recommendation was moved by Councillor N Smith and seconded by 
Councillor J Hoult.

A recorded vote being required, the voting was as follows:
 
Officer's recommendation (Motion)
Councillor Nigel Smith For
Councillor Russell Boam For
Councillor Alexander Bridgen For
Councillor Rachel Canny Against
Councillor John Clarke Against
Councillor David Everitt For
Councillor Jim Hoult For
Councillor Dan Harrison Against
Councillor John Legrys Against
Councillor Russell Johnson Against
Drawn

As the voting was tied, the Chairman exercised his casting vote and the motion was 
declared CARRIED.

RESOLVED THAT:

The tree preservation order be confirmed.

The meeting commenced at 6.30 pm

The Chairman closed the meeting at 8.01 pm

6



 

APPENDIX B 
 
 

Report of the Interim Head of Planning and Infrastructure 
to Planning Committee 

 
2 July 2019 

 
 
 

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT REPORT 
 

 
 

7

Agenda Item 4.



 

PLANNING COMMITTEE FRONT SHEET 
 
 
1. Background Papers 
 
For the purposes of Section 100(d) of the Local Government ( Access to information Act) 
1985 all consultation replies listed in this report along with the application documents and 
any accompanying letters or reports submitted by the applicant, constitute Background 
Papers which are available for inspection, unless such documents contain Exempt 
Information as defined in the act. 
 
2. Late Information: Updates 
 
Any information relevant to the determination of any application presented for determination 
in this Report, which is not available at the time of printing, will be reported in summarised 
form on the 'UPDATE SHEET' which will be distributed at the meeting.  Any documents 
distributed at the meeting will be made available for inspection.  Where there are any 
changes to draft conditions or a s106 TCPA 1990 obligation proposed in the update sheet 
these will be deemed to be incorporated in the proposed recommendation. 
 
3. Expiry of Representation Periods 
 
In cases where recommendations are headed "Subject to no contrary representations being 
received by ..... [date]" decision notices will not be issued where representations are 
received within the specified time period which, in the opinion of the Interim Head of 
Planning and Infrastructure are material planning considerations and relate to matters not 
previously raised. 
 
4. Reasons for Grant  
 
Where the Interim Head of Planning and Infrastructure report recommends a grant of 
planning permission and a resolution to grant permission is made, the summary grounds for 
approval and summary of policies and proposals in the development plan are approved as 
set out in the report.  Where the Planning Committee are of a different view they may resolve 
to add or amend the reasons or substitute their own reasons.  If such a resolution is made 
the Chair of the Planning Committee will invite the planning officer and legal advisor to 
advise on the amended proposals before the a resolution is finalised and voted on.  The 
reasons shall be minuted, and the wording of the reasons, any relevant summary policies 
and proposals, any amended or additional conditions and/or the wording of such conditions, 
and the decision notice, is delegated to the Interim Head of Planning and Infrastructure. 
 
5. Granting permission contrary to Officer Recommendation  
 
Where the Interim Head of Planning and Infrastructure report recommends refusal, and the 
Planning Committee are considering granting planning permission, the summary  reasons 
for granting planning permission, a summary of the relevant policies and proposals, and 
whether the permission should be subject to conditions and/or an obligation under S106 of 
the TCPA 1990 must also be determined; Members will consider the recommended reasons 
for refusal, and then the summary reasons for granting the permission. The Chair will invite  
a Planning Officer to advise on the reasons and  the other matters.  An adjournment of the 
meeting may be necessary for the Planning Officer and legal Advisor to consider the advice 
required 
  

8



 

If The Planning Officer is unable to advise at Members at that meeting, he may recommend 
the item is deferred until further information or advice is available. This is likely if there are 
technical objections, eg. from the Highways Authority, Severn Trent, the Environment 
Agency, or other Statutory consultees.  
 
If the summary grounds for approval and the relevant policies and proposals are approved 
by resolution of Planning Committee, the wording of the decision notice, and conditions and 
the Heads of Terms of any S106 obligation, is delegated to the Interim Head of Planning and 
Infrastructure. 
 
6 Refusal contrary to officer recommendation 
 
Where members are minded to decide to refuse an application contrary to the 
recommendation printed in the report, or to include additional reasons for refusal where the 
recommendation is to refuse, the Chair will invite the Planning Officer to advise on the 
proposed reasons and the prospects of successfully defending the decision on Appeal, 
including the possibility of an award of costs. This is in accordance with the Local Planning 
Code of Conduct.  The wording of the reasons or additional reasons for refusal, and the 
decision notice as the case is delegated to the Interim Head of Planning and Infrastructure. 
 
7 Amendments to Motion 
 
An amendment must be relevant to the motion and may: 

1. Leave out words 
2. Leave out words and insert or add others 
3. Insert or add words 

as long as the effect is not to negate the motion 
 
If the amendment/s makes the planning permission incapable of implementation then the 
effect is to negate the motion. 
 
If the effect of any amendment is not immediately apparent the Chairman will take advice 
from the Legal Advisor and Interim Head of Planning and Infrastructure /Planning and 
Development Team Manager present at the meeting. That advice may be sought during the 
course of the meeting or where the Officers require time to consult, the Chairman may 
adjourn the meeting for a short period. 
 
Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one time. No further amendment 
may be moved until the amendment under discussion has been disposed of. The 
amendment must be put to the vote. 
 
If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the original motion may be moved. 
 
If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes the place of the original motion. 
This becomes the substantive motion to which any further amendments are moved. 
 
After an amendment has been carried, the Chairman will read out the amended motion 
before accepting any further amendment, or if there are none, put it to the vote. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9



 

8 Delegation of wording of Conditions 
 
A Draft of the proposed conditions, and the reasons for the conditions, are included in the 
report.  The final wording of the conditions, or any new or amended conditions, is delegated 
to the Interim Head of Planning and Infrastructure. 
 
9. Decisions on Items of the Interim Head of Planning and Infrastructure 
The Chairman will call each item in the report.  No vote will be taken at that stage unless a 
proposition is put to alter or amend the printed recommendation.  Where a proposition is put 
and a vote taken the item will be decided in accordance with that vote.  In the case of a tie 
where no casting vote is exercised the item will be regarded as undetermined. 
 

10



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

 
Employment development for uses B1 (c), B2 and B8 (outline 
with details of part access included) 

 Report Item No  
A1  

 
Land East Of Regs Way Coalville Leicestershire   LE67 1GH Application Reference  

18/01890/OUTM  
 

Grid Reference (E) 444908 
Grid Reference (N) 312433 
 
Applicant: 
Joanne Neville 
 
Case Officer: 
Adam Mellor 
 
Recommendation: 
PERMIT subject to S106 Agreement 
 

Date Registered:  
12 October 2018 

Consultation Expiry: 
15 November 2018 

8 Week Date: 
11 January 2019 

Extension of Time: 
13 March 2019 

 
Site Location - Plan for indicative purposes only   

 
     

Reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office 
copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.  Licence LA 100019329) 

 
 

 

11

Agenda Item A1



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 
 
Call In 
 
The application is called in to the Planning Committee by Councillor Merrie on the basis that the 
application site is outside the defined Limits to Development, is not included in land allocated for 
employment purposes, highway safety concerns, ecology concerns, flood risk concerns and 
adverse impacts to the setting of a heritage asset. 
 
Proposal 
 
Outline planning permission with means of part access for approval is sought for an 
employment development for B1(c), B2 and B8 uses on land to the east of Regs Way, Coalville. 
 
Consultations 
 
Objections have been received from third parties. No objections have been received from 
statutory consultees who have responded during the consultation process with a revised 
response from the Lead Local Flood Authority awaited. 
 
Planning Policy 
 
The application site is located outside the Limits to Development in the adopted North West 
Leicestershire Local Plan.  
 
Conclusion 
 
The key issues in relation to the application are considered to be: 
 
- The principle of the development and need for employment land; 
- Landscape and visual impacts; 
- The impact on heritage assets; 
- Highway safety;  
- Ecology; and 
- Drainage and flood risk. 
 
The report below looks at these details, and Officers conclude that the details are satisfactory. 
The proposals meet the requirements of relevant NWLDC policies, including the adopted Good 
Design for North West Leicestershire SPD, and the NPPF (2019). 
 
RECOMMENDATION - PERMIT, SUBJECT TO A LEGAL AGREEMENT AND CONDITIONS 
AND NO OBJECTIONS BEING RAISED BY THE LEAD LOCAL FLOOD AUTHORITY. 
 
Members are advised that the above is a summary of the proposals and key issues 
contained in the main report below which provides full details of all consultation 
responses, planning policies, the Officer's assessment and recommendations, and 
Members are advised that this summary should be read in conjunction with the detailed 
report. 
 
 

12



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

MAIN REPORT 
 
 
1. Proposals and Background 
 
Outline planning permission is sought for an employment development for uses within the B1(c), 
B2 and B8 use classes with means of part access for approval at land to the east of Regs Way, 
Coalville. The 15.59 hectare site, developable area of 11.15 hectares, is situated to the east of 
Regs Way and south of Bardon Road (A511) and is outside the defined Limits to Development. 
At present the land is utilised for agricultural purposes with Bardon Hill Quarry being set to the 
north of the site and industrial premises on the Bardon Industrial Estate being set to the south, 
the Grade II listed St Peter's Church is also set to immediate north of the site on the opposite 
side of Bardon Road (A511). 
 
Amendments have been made to the scheme as originally submitted, following the receipt of 
relevant consultees responses, and it is proposed that vehicular access into the site would be 
achieved via the provision of a new 'left-in left-out' T junction onto Bardon Road (A511).  
 
Although the layout is not for approval at this stage, that which has been submitted 
demonstrates how six units could be provided on the site with such units having a combined 
floor space of 33,119 square metres. It is outlined that the units would be utilised for purposes 
within use classes B1(c) (business - light industrial), B2 (general industrial) or B8 (storage or 
distribution) of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended). 
 
The application is accompanied by a planning statement, design and access statement, design 
guidance document, economic impact assessment, heritage statement, landscape and visual 
appraisal, transport assessment, travel plan, flood risk assessment and sustainable drainage 
strategy, hydraulic modelling technical note, noise assessment, air quality assessment, 
ecological appraisal, arboricultural assessment, phase 1 geo-environmental assessment and 
phase 2 geo-environmental assessment. Throughout the course of the application additional 
documents have been received to address consultee responses and reconsultation has been 
undertaken on these documents. 
 
No recent or relevant planning history was found. 
 
 
2.  Publicity 
 
12 Neighbours have been notified. 
Site Notice displayed 31 October 2018. 
Press Notice published Leicester Mercury 31 October 2018. 
 
 
3. Summary of Consultations and Representations Received 
The following summary of representations is provided. 
 
No Objections from; 
Highways England. 
Leicestershire County Council - Archaeology. 
Natural England. 
NWLDC - Conservation Officer. 
NWLDC - Environmental Protection. 

13



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

NWLDC - Planning Policy. 
 
No Objections, subject to condition(s) from; 
Environment Agency. 
Leicestershire County Council - Ecology. 
Leicestershire County Council - Highways Authority. 
National Forest Company. 
 
Third Party Representations 
Two third party representations have been received objecting to the application with the 
comments raised summarised as follows: 
 
Principle of Development 
 
- The application site is outside the defined Limits to Development and there is no 

requirement for such development given the amount of land already allocated for such 
uses. 

 
Air Pollution 
 
- The proposed development will add to air pollution when combined with the existing 

commercial premises in the area. 
 
Residential Amenity 
 
- Proposed scale of development will impact adversely on residential amenities. 
 
Highway Safety 
 
- New access onto Bardon Road (A511) will compromise highway safety given the volume 

of vehicular movements on the highway, speed of vehicles and accident record. 
- Provision of parking within the site to serve the church at the weekend would be 

beneficial. 
- Damage is done to vehicles parked outside the church 
 
Heritage and Visual Impacts 
 
- Development will impact adversely on historic buildings in the area and alter the 

character of the area given the land is utilised for agriculture. 
- A contribution should be made to provide toilet facilities within the church to offset the 

harm to the heritage asset. 
 
Others 
 
- Inadequate public consultation has been undertaken on the application. 
- Construction of cycle path/footpath has resulted in flooding issues at the church. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

14



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

 
 
4. Relevant Planning Policy 
 
National Policies 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019) 
The following sections of the NPPF are considered relevant to the determination of this 
application: 
 
Paragraphs 8 and 10 (Achieving sustainable development); 
Paragraphs 11 and 12 (Presumption in favour of sustainable development); 
Paragraph 34 (Development contributions); 
Paragraphs 38, 39, 40, 41, 42, 44 and 47 (Decision-making); 
Paragraphs 54, 55, 56 and 57 (Planning conditions and obligations); 
Paragraphs 80, 81 and 82 (Building a strong, competitive economy); 
Paragraphs 92 and 98 (Promoting healthy and safe communities); 
Paragraphs 105, 106, 108, 109, 110 and 111 (Promoting sustainable transport); 
Paragraphs 122 and 123 (Making effective use of land); 
Paragraphs 124, 126, 127 and 130 (Achieving well-designed places); 
Paragraph 142 (Protecting green belt land - the National Forest); 
Paragraphs 155, 163 and 165 (Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 
change); 
Paragraphs 170, 175, 178, 179 and 180 (Conserving and enhancing the natural environment); 
and 
Paragraphs 199 (Conserving and enhancing the historic environment). 
 
 
Adopted North West Leicestershire Local Plan (2017) 
The following policies of the adopted local plan are consistent with the policies of the NPPF and 
should be afforded full weight in the determination of this application:  
 
Policy S1 - Future Housing and Economic Development Needs; 
Policy S2 - Settlement Hierarchy; 
Policy D1 - Design of New Development; 
Policy D2 - Amenity; 
Policy Ec2 - New Employment Sites; 
Policy IF4 - Transport Infrastructure and New Development; 
Policy IF7 - Parking Provision and New Development; 
Policy En1 - Nature Conservation; 
Policy En2 - River Mease Special Area of Conservation; 
Policy En3 - The National Forest; 
Policy En6 - Land and Air Quality; 
Policy He1 - Conservation and Enhancement of North West Leicestershire's Historic 
Environment; 
Policy Cc2 - Water - Flood Risk; and 
Policy Cc3 - Water - Sustainable Drainage Systems. 
 
 
Other Policies 
National Planning Practice Guidance. 
Good Design for North West Leicestershire Supplementary Planning Document - April 2017. 
Leicestershire Highways Design Guide (Leicestershire County Council). 

15



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 - Section 66. 
Circular 06/05 (Biodiversity and Geological Conservation - Statutory Obligations and Their 
Impact Within The Planning System). 
 
 
5. Assessment 
 
Principle of Development and Sustainability 
In accordance with the provision of Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004, the starting point for the determination of the application is the Development Plan, which, 
in this instance, includes the adopted Local Plan (2017). 
 
The application is in outline form but the illustrative masterplan submitted in support of the 
application outlined that six industrial units for employment purposes (B1(c), B2 and B8 uses) 
would be provided. The application site lies outside the defined Limits to Development as 
defined by the Policies Map to the adopted Local Plan. 
 
Policy S3 outlines the types of development deemed acceptable outside the defined Limits to 
Development which includes "employment land in accordance with the provisions of Policy Ec2" 
(criterion (s)). It would also be necessary to comply with criteria (i) to (vi) of Policy S3. 
 
Policy Ec2 of the adopted Local Plan states the following: 
 
"(2) Where evidence indicates an immediate need or demand for additional employment land 
(B1, B2 and B8) in North West Leicestershire that cannot be met from land allocated in this 
plan, the Council will consider favourably proposals that meet the identified need in appropriate 
locations subject to the proposal: 
 
(a) Being accessible or will be made accessible by a choice of means of transport, including 

sustainable transport modes, as a consequence of planning permission being granted 
for the development; and 

 
(b) Having good access to the strategic highway network (M1, M42/A42 and A50) and an 

acceptable impact on the capacity of that network, including any junctions, and 
 
(c) Not being detrimental to the amenities of any nearby residential properties or the wider 

environment." 
 
Policy S1 of the adopted Local Plan required a review of the adopted Local Plan to commence 
within 3 months of adoption, which is now underway, with one of the key reasons for a review 
being the fact that there is a shortfall of 29 hectares of employment land supply (B1, B2 and 
small scale B8) within the adopted Local Plan when compared with the Housing and Economic 
Development Needs Assessment (HEDNA). It is important to note, however, that this need 
identified small scale B8 (under 9000 square metres) and not strategic B8 (over 9000 square 
metres). 
 
It is considered that the key phrase of Policy Ec2 is "where evidence indicates an immediate 
need or demand" and as part of the consideration of the application an Employment Land 
Analysis has been provided by the applicant to demonstrate compliance with Policy Ec2. 
 
The Employment Land Analysis identifies that the current demand for B1c, B2 and small scale 
B8 within the District is 10.5 hectares and it is considered that only two sites are realistically 

16



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

available for such uses which are a site at Bardon Road, Coalville (granted under application 
reference 18/01764/FULM) which approved 4.4 hectares of B2/B8 development and land to the 
rear of the Charnwood Arms, Beveridge Lane, Bardon which has permission for 1.14 hectares 
of B1c/B2 and small scale B8 development. On the basis of this analysis any business looking 
for new build premises within the District for B1c/B2 and small scale B8 uses currently has 
limited options. 
 
If these two available sites are subtracted from the 10.5 hectares immediate demand, this gives 
a total immediate unmet demand of 4.96 hectares. Using a standard plot ratio of 40%, this 
equates to an immediate unmet demand of 19,840 square metres. 
 
The developable site area is 11.15 hectares with the proposed floor spaces of the units totalling 
33,119 square metres which would be less than what would be expected for a site of this size 
albeit it is acknowledged that the site constraints have limited the overall size of units which 
could be provided. 
 
Although the proposed floor space would exceed the figure of 'immediate demand' outlined 
within the Employment Land Analysis it has, nevertheless, been demonstrated that there is an 
immediate demand with the approach used for the analysis being robust and credible. As such 
the proposal would help to deal with an existing shortfall although as the application is an outline 
application it would be important to ensure that any B8 unit provided is of a size which is less 
than 9000 square metres given that the demand is for 'small scale' B8 and not 'strategic' B8 
development. A condition would be imposed on any permission granted to ensure that this is the 
case. 
 
On the basis that a 'immediate demand' for employment land has been demonstrated within the 
area it is considered appropriate to judge the application against criteria (a) to (c) of Part (2) of 
Policy Ec2.  
 
In terms of criteria (a) of Part (2) of Policy Ec2 it is considered that the close proximity of the site 
to the Coalville Urban Area, it's positioning on a main route towards Coalville (Bardon Road 
(A511)) and the accessibility of the site via public transport would ensure compliance with this 
criteria. Compliance with criteria (a) of Policy Ec2 also ensures compliance with criteria (vi) of 
Policy S3 of the adopted Local Plan which has similar requirements. 
 
The positioning and accessibility of the site on Bardon Road (A511) also ensures that the site 
has good access to the strategic highway network given that the A511 has direct links to the M1 
and A42/M42. As the County Highways Authority (CHA) or Highways England (HE) have no 
objections to the application, as outlined in the 'Accessibility' section of this report below, the 
development will also have an acceptable impact on the capacity of the highway network. On 
this basis compliance with criteria (b) of Part (2) of Policy Ec2 is ensured. 
 
With regards to criteria (c) of Part (2) of Policy Ec2 an assessment of the impacts of the 
development on residential amenity and the wider environment are undertaken within the 
'Residential Amenity' and 'Impact Upon The Visual Landscape' sections of this report below 
where it is concluded that such impacts would not be significantly adverse. On this basis the 
proposal complies with criteria (c) of Part (2) of Policy Ec2. 
 
In terms of wider economic and social benefits of the scheme, Paragraph 80 of the NPPF states 
that "significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth and 
productivity, taking into account local business needs and wider opportunities for development." 
Paragraph 81 indicates that planning policies should be "flexible enough to accommodate 

17



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

needs not anticipated in the plan" (criteria (d)). 
 
It is considered that the proposal represents a capital investment in the local area of Coalville 
with the site being within a sustainable location due to its close proximity to the urban area of 
Coalville, as well as the Bardon Industrial Estate. As such it is in accordance with the NPPF 
which seeks to focus development in locations which are sustainable and Policy S2 of the 
adopted Local Plan which states that the Principal Town, which comprises the Coalville Urban 
Area, will take more growth than those lower down the settlement hierarchy. 
 
Socially, as well as economically, the development would contribute to the provision of new jobs 
in the locality, within the construction and operational phases, with such employment 
opportunities being well related to areas of residential growth within the immediate area 
(including development off Bardon Road and within the South East Coalville expansion) 
 
With regard to the environmental role, the site is identified as countryside in the adopted Local 
Plan and the proposal would result in development on a greenfield site. However, the adopted 
Local Plan has identified a shortfall of land for employment purposes and, as such, it is 
inevitable that there will be a need for greenfield sites to be released to meet future needs. It is 
also the case, as outlined above, that Policy S3 of the adopted Local Plan does not preclude 
employment development being brought forward on greenfield sites should a 'demand' be 
demonstrated. Further issues in respect of the environmental objective of sustainability are 
considered in more detail within the relevant sections below. 
 
On balance the conflict with the environmental objective, in this instance, would be outweighed 
by the positive social and economic aspects of the development and consequently it would be 
acceptable in principle and would accord with the aims of Policies S2, S3 and Ec2 of the 
adopted Local Plan and the guidance within the NPPF. 
 
Other issues associated with the development are assessed in more detail in the relevant 
sections of this report below.  
 
 
Loss of Agricultural Land 
In terms of the loss of agricultural land, Paragraph 170 of the NPPF outlines that planning 
policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by, 
amongst other things, recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, and the 
wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services, including the economic and other 
benefits of the Best and Most Versatile (BMV) agricultural land. Footnote 53 to Paragraph 171 
of the NPPF suggests that, where significant development of agricultural land is demonstrated 
to be necessary, areas of poorer quality land should be preferred to those of a higher quality. 
BMV agricultural land is defined as that falling within Grades 1, 2 and 3a of the Agricultural Land 
Classification (ALC). 
 
Information which accompanies the application does not detail the agricultural quality of the 
application site but on the basis of the ALC map for the East Midlands Region it would likely be 
within Grade 3 (Good to Moderate), however the ALC map does not specify whether the Grade 
3 land falls within 3a (BMV) or 3b (not BMV) classification. 
 
Whilst the NPPF does not suggest that the release of smaller BMV sites is acceptable, the 
magnitude of loss of agricultural land is considered to be low where less than 20 hectares of 
BMV would be lost. Given that the developable site area (11.15 hectares) would fall below this 
threshold it is considered that a reason to refuse the application in the context of criteria (b) of 

18



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

Paragraph 170 of the NPPF could not be substantiated. It could also be argued, from an 
economic perspective, that the land would be more valuable for employment purposes then its 
current agricultural use. 
 
 
Impact Upon The Visual Landscape 
As discussed earlier in this report the application site in policy terms lies outside the Limits to 
Development, and is therefore within an area designated as countryside. 
 
Criteria (i) of Policy S3 of the adopted Local Plan outlines that development will be supported 
where the appearance and character of the landscape is safeguarded and enhanced. 
 
Paragraph 170 of the NPPF outlines that planning decisions should protect and enhance valued 
landscapes (criteria (a)) as well as recognise the intrinsic character and beauty of the 
countryside (criteria (b)). 
 
For clarity, Landscape and Visual Impacts will be considered separately below. 
 
Landscape Impacts 
Landscape impacts are the effects of a proposed development on the fabric, character and 
quality of the landscape and is concerned with the degree to which the proposed commercial 
development will become a significant or defining characteristic of the landscape. 
 
A Landscape and Visual Appraisal (LVA) has been submitted in support of the application and 
in terms of the visual envelope for the site this is broadly defined as follows:  
 
"To the north, views are limited by the combination of layers of vegetation between the site and 
Bardon Road heading north, the slight rise and fall in topography at the traffic island and the 
infrastructure associated with the quarry at Bardon Hill; 
 
To the east, the visual envelope is restricted by the existing built form at Forest House and its 
surrounding vegetation and the fall in topography; 
 
To the south, views are limited by the existing, industrial edge of Bardon Industrial Estate; and 
 
To the west, some mid-distance views are available but restricted by the combination of Upper 
Grange Farm and layers of vegetation." 
 
As undeveloped agricultural land the provision of the development will have an urbanising 
impact on the landscape. Although this is the case due regard has to be given to whether such 
an impact would be significantly adverse to the landscape character of the area in the context of 
the location of the development and whether such impact could be mitigated. 
 
The site lies immediately to the north of the Bardon Industrial Estate, which comprises 
numerous large and medium sized industrial and commercial premises with associated 
transport infrastructure, with St Peter's Church and The Birch Tree Public House being located 
to the north of the site on the opposite side of Bardon Road (A511). Bardon Quarry, which forms 
a prominent feature in the landscape and comprises numerous industrial buildings and 
quarrying equipment, an extensive quarry void and an internal road network, sits beyond the 
church to the north with residential properties at the edge of the settlement of Coalville being set 
to the north-west. Permission also exists for the creation of employment development on land 
off Bardon Road (application reference 18/01764/FULM), set to the north-west of the application 

19



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

site, which will effectively fill the gap between the Bardon Quarry Mineral railway line and the 
Shell petrol station. To the immediate west the emerging South East Coalville expansion is 
being undertaken on land beyond the Leicester to Burton railway line. With regards to the east 
two residential properties (Forest Lodge and Forest House) lie adjacent to the site boundary 
with Bardon Road (A511) segregating the site from the wider agricultural fields set to the north-
east. 
 
Within the site hedgerows, currently defining field boundaries, would be lost to facilitate the 
development but the majority of vegetation to the outer boundaries of the site could be retained 
with the only exception being hedgerows around where the vehicular access onto Bardon Road 
would be formed. Vegetation within the Bardon 22 Grassland Local Wildlife Site (LWS) to the 
south of the River Sence would also be retained. 
 
As part of the development it is also proposed that additional landscaped areas would be 
created throughout the site in the form of buffer planting, green corridors, woodland blocks and 
tree belt planting with the reduction in the existing land levels seeking to 'sink' the development 
into the site so as to reduce its overall impact. 
 
Given that the application is in outline form with only part access for approval, the precise 
details of the appearance and scale of buildings to be created on the site, the finished site levels 
and landscape strategy are not for approval but it is considered that at the reserved matters 
stage, should outline permission be granted, it could be ensured that the impacts to the 
landscape are adequately mitigated. 
 
Overall, and in the context of the environment in which the development would be set which 
comprises significant urban influences, it is considered that any impacts to character of the 
landscape would be localised and subsequently it would not be sufficiently harmed so as to 
refuse the application in this respect. 
 
Visual Impacts 
Visual impacts concerns the degree to which the proposed development will become a feature 
in particular views and the impact this has upon the people experiencing these views. The LVA 
submitted in support of the application includes an assessment of visual effects. 
 
Photographs from eight representative viewpoints are included within the LVA with these eight 
locations being as follows: 
 
1) View from Bardon Road opposite Forest House, looking west; 
2) View from Bardon Road at the north-eastern corner of the site, looking south-west; 
3) View from Bardon Road adjacent to St Peter's Church, looking south-west; 
4) View from public footpath to the north of Bardon Road near Bardon House, looking 

south; 
5) View from the northern edge of the traffic island at Bardon Road and Regs Way, looking 

south-east; 
6) View from Grange Road, at the entrance to Louella Stud, looking east; 
7) View from public footpath at Upper Grange Farm, looking east; 
8) View from Regs Way, looking north-east. 
 
With regards to the experiences from these viewpoints it is considered that from the west 
(viewpoints nos. 6 and 7) existing industrial premises within the Bardon Industrial Estate and off 
Grange Road are visible along with the infrastructure within Bardon Quarry. 
 

20



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

From the north (viewpoints no. 4) Bardon House is visible with partial views of industrial 
premises at the Bardon Industrial Estate also being visible. The Public Right of Way (PROW) 
N59 from where these views are gained is substantially enclosed by vegetation. 
 
 
In terms of the north-east (viewpoints 2 and 3) it is shown that the quality of the northern 
boundary hedgerow varies and as such filtered and partial views can be established across the 
site from Bardon Road as well as St Peter's Church. Whilst this viewpoint demonstrates the 
open nature of the application site the upper elements of larger industrial premises within the 
Bardon Industrial Estate are clearly visible along with pylons. 
 
From the east (viewpoint 1) Forest House is prominent with only a limited view of an existing 
industrial unit on the Bardon Industrial Estate. The existing vegetation to the Bardon Road 
boundary is shown to be dense and well established which restricts the views. 
 
With regards to the north-west (viewpoint 5) existing industrial units at the Bardon Industrial 
Estate are visible along with the urban influences associated with the Birch Tree Roundabout. 
The difference in topography between the transport corridor at this point and the Bardon 
Industrial Estate are clearly demonstrated. 
 
In terms of the south-west (viewpoint 8) St Peter's Church is clearly visible as is the wooded 
extent of Bardon Hill in the distance. Forest Lodge is also visible with views of the existing 
industrial units on the Bardon Industrial Estate being heavily filtered by the presence of 
vegetation. The topography of the application site is also visible. 
 
As a result of the development the experiences at these viewpoints will alter but it is important to 
determine whether such changes are significantly adverse. 
 
In terms of viewpoints 6 and 7 it is considered that the development would be viewed in 
association with existing industrial premises within the Bardon Industrial Estate with the land 
from which these views are provided also falling within the South East Coalville expansion site. 
Consequently over time the visibility of the development will reduce given the introduction of 
further urban influences. On this basis there would be no adverse impacts to the established 
views. 
 
With regards to viewpoint 4 it is considered that limited views of the proposed development 
would be established from a partial section of PROW N59 given the extent of vegetation 
enclosing the PROW. In any event existing buildings at the Bardon Industrial Estate are visible 
in such views and consequently no adverse impacts to the established view would arise. 
 
Within viewpoints 2 and 3 it is considered that although the development would become more 
'pronounced' in views, given the proximity of the development to Bardon Road, urban influences 
within the landscape persist (including the upper areas of units at the Bardon Industrial Estate) 
and subject to the 'sinking' of the development into the ground and provision of an appropriate 
landscaping strategy it is considered that the impacts to the established view would not be 
significantly adverse. 
 
As is the case above the development would be 'pronounced' in viewpoint 5 but the clear urban 
influences associated with the road infrastructure and signage at the Birch Tree roundabout and 
buildings at the Bardon Industrial Estate ensure that the existing view would not be adversely 
affected. 
 

21



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

Whilst views from viewpoint 1, as experienced from Bardon Road, would not be adversely 
impacted on due to the presence of the established roadside landscaping the view from within 
the residential garden of Forest House, as well as Forest Lodge, would be altered. In views from 
the gardens of these properties development at Bardon Industrial Estate is visible, however 
urbanisation of the application site would bring industrial development closer to these residential 
properties. As is outlined above the topography of the land would be altered to lower the visible 
height of the buildings with the illustrative masterplan suggesting the provision of tree planting in 
close proximity to what would become a shared boundary with Forest House and Forest Lodge. 
In the context that existing views from the residential gardens of Forest House and Forest 
Lodge experience urban influences, with the South East Coalville expansion adding additional 
urban influences to such a view, it is considered that, subject to suitable mitigation, such a view 
would not be adversely impacted on.  
 
It is considered that viewpoint 8 would be the most sensitive view given that significant urban 
influences are not present in such a view although the ability to view a wider open landscape is 
significantly reduced by the presence of mature trees with only Bardon Hill being a prominent 
feature in the wider landscape. As is outlined in the 'Impact on the Historic Environment' section 
of this report below it is possible that a view of St Peter's Church and Bardon Hill from Regs 
Way could be framed by ensuring that buildings are positioned outside this 'vista' and that 
landscaping is introduced to 'frame' this view and ensure that it is maintained. Such mitigation 
would be secured when the layout and landscaping is submitted for consideration as part of a 
reserved matters, should outline consent be granted. As a consequence any adverse impacts to 
this view could be mitigated to an extent which would not justify a refusal of the application. 
 
Summary - Impact upon the Visual Landscape 
It is considered that the lack of statutory landscape designations on or around the site is 
significant in assessing the level of harm arising from the proposal. As such, although it is 
acknowledged that the land in question is currently undeveloped and there would be some 
change to the landscape character of the site, this is considered to not be significant and would 
be localised. On this basis the landscape could accommodate the development without its 
character being significantly harmed. 
 
Visually the development would be viewed in connection with other significant urban influences 
within the landscape and any impact would be localised as a result of the mitigation proposed 
which would include a comprehensive landscaping strategy and alterations to the topography in 
order to 'sink' the buildings into the ground. Consequently people's experience of views towards 
features of interest within the landscape would not be significantly compromised. 
 
On this basis the proposal accords with criterion (i) of Part (2) of Policy S3 of the adopted Local 
Plan as well as Policy D1 of the adopted Local Plan and Paragraphs 124 and 127 of the NPPF. 
 
 
Impact on the Historic Environment 
Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires the 
Local Planning Authority when considering whether or not to grant planning permission for 
development which affects a listed building, or its setting, to have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building, or its setting, or any features of special architectural or 
historic interest that the building may possess. Such an approach is also supported by 
Paragraphs 192, 193, 194, 196 and 200 of the NPPF. 
 
In terms of heritage assets the application site lies to the south of St Peter's Church which is 
Grade II listed. Therefore the impact of the development on the fabric and setting of this 

22



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

heritage asset should be given special regard by the 1990 Act. 
 
 
 
 
 
The Council's Conservation Officer in their initial response identified two key views that 
contribute positively to the setting of the church: 
 
1) From Regs Way looking north-east toward the church and the summit of Bardon Hill 

beyond, and; 
2) From the church porch looking south to south-west through the boundary gate across 

the development site. 
  
On the basis of the illustrative masterplan as initially submitted the Council's Conservation 
Officer concluded that there would be less than substantial harm to the significance of the 
church for the following reasons: 
 
1) In the key view from Regs Way the buildings would be laid out to preserve a viewing 

corridor, although this would be undermined by the proposed screen planting. The 
'existing' viewing corridor is framed by open agricultural land but the 'proposed' viewing 
corridor would be framed by buildings. 

2) In the key view from the church porch no viewing corridor would be preserved. 
 
It was also outlined that the provision of screen planting and ponds would not reflect the open 
and agricultural character of the church's immediate surrounding. 
 
Subsequent revisions have been made to the illustrative masterplan in order to address the 
concerns of the Council's Conservation Officer with a site meeting being held to determine the 
precise location of the key view towards the church from Regs Way. 
 
On the basis of the revised plans the Council's Conservation Officer has outlined that in terms of 
viewpoint 1 proposed landscaping would sever views of the eastern end of the church, that 
trees within the highway verge on Regs Way should be removed and that retaining structures 
would remain visible in association with unit 5. With regards to viewpoint 2 it is advised that unit 
3 be rotated so as to be parallel with the internal access road, in order to better preserve the 
setting of the church, and that the restoration of hedgerows should extend along a greater 
portion of the site boundary with Bardon Road (A511). 
 
Further revisions have been made to the illustrative masterplan, to address the comments 
raised, although it is noted that in terms of landscaping that which is shown on the plans is 
indicative given that landscaping is reserved for subsequent approval. Consequently at the 
reserved matters stage, should outline consent be granted, it could be ensured that the 
hedgerow along the site boundary is reinstated and that trees are not positioned in a manner 
which obstruct the view of the church from Regs Way.  
 
Trees within the highway verge are not in the control of the applicant and consequently separate 
discussions would be undertaken with the County Council Highways Authority, outside the 
planning process, to ascertain if these trees can be removed. It is also the case that the most 
recent 'Site Finished Ground Strategy' does not require substantial retaining structures around 
unit 5, albeit the finished ground and floor levels would be a matter for consideration at the 
reserved matters stage. Unit 3 has also not been repositioned at this time, given that the layout 

23



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

is not for approval, albeit the applicant has indicated that the suggested position would create 
difficulties with merging the internal access road with the finished floor level of unit 3. 
 
In the main it is considered that it would be possible to bring a development forward at the 
reserved matters stage, should outline permission be granted, that would retain the key view 
into and out of the identified heritage asset. The Council's Conservation Officer has identified 
that any harm to the significance of the setting of the heritage asset would be 'less than 
substantial' and consequently Paragraph 196 of the NPPF is engaged within indicates that any 
harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. In the context of Paragraph 
196 of the NPPF it is concluded that any harm would be mitigated by the public benefits of the 
provision of employment development within a sustainable location which would have positive 
economic and social impacts. 
 
Overall the proposed development would be acceptable and accords with Policy He1 of the 
adopted Local Plan, Paragraphs 192, 193, 194 and 196 of the NPPF and Section 66 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 
 
In terms of the request of St Peter's Church for a financial contribution to be sought for the 
provision of toilets it is considered that Paragraph 56 of the NPPF outlines that planning 
obligations should only be sought where, amongst other things, they are necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms and directly related to the development. On the basis 
of the above conclusion the request for such a contribution would not be necessary nor would it 
be directly related to the development, consequently the request would not meet the tests 
outlined in Paragraph 56. Whilst such a contribution could not be secured as part of the 
planning process a note to the applicant would be included on any decision notice to make them 
aware of this request. 
 
 
Design 
The need for good design in new development is outlined not only in adopted Local Plan Policy 
D1, as well as the Council's Adopted Good Design for NWLDC SPD, but also Paragraphs 124 
and 127 of the NPPF. 
 
The Council's Principal Urban Designer has been consulted on the application and identified 
design principles which should be taken into account when developing the site. Such principles 
included the importance of views to and from St Peter's Church, the need to settle the buildings 
into the landscape and the need to ensure the levels strategy is correct in order to reduce the 
need for high level retaining structures. Whilst acknowledging these design principles it is noted 
that the application is in outline form with only part access for approval. 
 
Matters associated with the importance of views to and from the church are discussed in more 
detail in the 'Impact on the Historic Environment' section of this report above where the keys 
views have been established. In progressing a layout of development at the reserved matters 
stage it would be ensured that these key views are preserved. 
 
In terms of settling the buildings into the landscape it is considered that at the reserved matters 
stage an appropriate earthworks strategy could be submitted which ensures that the envisaged 
'sinking' of the buildings into the ground, so as to lessen their visual impact, materialises and 
which provides an appropriate scale of development as well as limiting the 
provision/prominence of retaining structures. The submission of an appropriate landscaping 
strategy would also be secured, as discussed in the 'Landscaping' section of this report below, 
which would be agreed with the National Forest Company and County Council Ecologist to 

24



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

ensure appropriate species of trees and plants are introduced. 
 
The Council's Principal Urban Designer and National Forest Company have also commented 
that the indicative elevation information submitted does not suggest a design response which 
would be informed by the scheme's setting in the National Forest. It is considered that an 
appropriate note to the applicant could be imposed on any permission granted to make them 
aware that reconsideration would need to be given to the design of the units so as to ensure 
that they respond more positively to the context of their setting particularly given that 
appearance is not for approval at this stage. 
 
Overall, and from an 'in principle' perspective, it is considered that at the reserved matters stage 
it could be ensured that the appearance, layout, scale and landscaping associated with the 
development responds positively to the design principles outlined within Policy D1 of the 
adopted Local Plan, the Council's adopted Good Design SPD and Paragraphs 124 and 127 of 
the NPPF. 
 
 
Accessibility 
The County Council Highways Authority (CHA) and Highways England have been consulted on 
the application with the assessment of the CHA being based on guidance within the 
Leicestershire Highways Design Guide (LHDG).  
 
Site Access 
It is proposed that a new vehicular access would be formed onto Bardon Road (A511) with such 
an access comprising a T junction with a priority 'left-in left-out' arrangement which would 
prevent vehicles turning right out of the site onto Bardon Road (A511). The submitted transport 
assessment identifies that alternative access arrangements onto Regs Way have been explored 
but they have been discounted given that flooding and ecological constraints on other areas of 
the site would prevent such accesses being delivered. The proposed site access has also been 
subject to an independent stage 1 road safety audit. 
 
The site access would provide visibility splays compatible with the speed of traffic on the 
highway which have been adjusted to accord with the 85th percentile wet weather speeds 
experienced on Bardon Road. 
 
Subject to conditions the CHA have no objections to the proposed vehicular access. 
 
Impact on the Wider Highway Network 
The proposed development would generate around 100 vehicle movements in the peak AM and 
PM hours. This traffic is assigned to the highway network, and the impact of the additional trips 
has been considered at the following study area junctions: 
 
- Birch Tree roundabout; 
- A511/Beveridge Lane roundabout; 
- A511/Flying Horse roundabout; 
 
In assessing the application the CHA have identified that whilst the Birch Tree roundabout 
would operate within capacity (although it is noted that during the peak PM timeframe the Birch 
Tree roundabout would begin to reach operational capacity) the A511/Beveridge Lane and 
A511/Flying Horse roundabouts would operate over capacity with significant queuing and 
delays, therefore the development would have a detrimental impact on the operation of the 
A511.  

25



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

 
Whilst this impact has been identified the CHA have advised that the cumulative effects of 
development on the highway network within the Coalville Area has been assessed and a 
significant mitigation package of network improvements is planned to safeguard against rates of 
deterioration and optimise traffic flow, whilst maintaining safety on the A511 (this being known 
as the Coalville Transport Strategy). This strategy would also provide walking, cycling and bus 
service improvements. 
 
As such the CHA consider that the impact of the development could be mitigated by the 
developer making a reasonable and proportionate financial contribution towards the 
improvement works to the above junctions in keeping with the Coalville Contribution Strategy. 
This contribution would total £591,875.00 which the applicant has agreed to pay. 
 
Highways England have raised no objections and as such there is no adverse impact on the 
strategic highway network. 
 
Accessibility of the Site 
It is considered that the site would have good public transport links given that bus services run 
along Regs Way and Bardon Road (A511) with relevant bus stops associated with these 
services being within appropriate walking distances. Accessibility to these stops would be 
achieved via the proposed footway along the site access carriageway and the existing footway 
on the northern side of Bardon Road (A511) with this footway being designed to cater for both 
pedestrians and cyclists. The CHA have also identified that the relocation of bus stops on 
Bardon Road (A511) would be supported. 
 
A travel plan has also been submitted in support of the application which has the objective of 
minimising the number of new car trips generated by staff and visitors to and from the 
development by promoting and supporting the use of alternative modes of travel (walking, 
cycling, public transport and car sharing). The plan includes targets as well as measures and 
incentives to achieve the targets and methods for monitoring the travel patterns to the site. The 
CHA have outlined that the travel plan is comprehensive although a change would be required 
so as to make reference to the 'choosehowyoumove' website as well as details of the travel plan 
coordinators being provided to the CHA when known. A condition would be imposed on any 
permission granted to secure a revised travel plan. 
 
Parking Provision 
The amount of off-street parking to serve the industrial buildings would be dependent on their 
floor space and end use which is not to be determined at this time. As such an assessment in 
relation to off-street parking would be undertaken at the reserved matters stage when the 
proposed level of floor space and end use is known. Given the overall site area there would be 
sufficient land available to ensure an appropriate level of off-street parking is provided. 
 
Should the church wish to utilise parking at any of the units to be formed on the weekends then 
this would be a matter to discuss directly with any future occupants/tenant on the site. A note to 
the applicant would be imposed on any permission granted to make them aware of this request. 
 
Highway Conclusions 
Paragraph 109 of the NPPF outlines that development should only be refused on highway 
grounds where "there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe." As outlined above the CHA and 
Highways England have no objection to the application subject to the imposition of conditions 
and the securing of a payment for highway improvement works in line with the Coalville 

26



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

Transport Strategy and Coalville Contribution Strategy. Furthermore the CHA would also 
request Section 106 contributions towards travel packs, bus passes and monitoring of the travel 
plan. 
 
Subject to the above being secured the proposal would accord with Policies IF4 and IF7 of the 
adopted Local Plan as well as Paragraphs 105, 108 and 109 of the NPPF. 
 
 
Air Quality 
The application is accompanied by an Air Quality Assessment as the site is located 1.5 
kilometres to the south-east of the Coalville Air Quality Management Area (AQMA). 
 
This assessment states that the impacts from dust emissions associated with the construction 
phase of the proposed development have the potential for a 'medium' impact at the 17 sensitive 
receptors without mitigation. However, the report recommends that site-specific mitigation 
measures are secured in accordance with Section 8.2 of the Institute of Air Quality Management 
(IAQM) 'Guidance on the Assessment of Dust from Demolition and Construction' which will 
reduce the significance of the impacts to the sensitive receptors during the construction phase. 
Such mitigation measures would be secured via the imposition of a condition on any permission 
granted. 
 
In terms of the impacts associated with road traffic emissions from the operation of the 
development the report has concluded that such impacts would be negligible to the sensitive 
receptors and consequently no mitigation would be required in this respect. Whilst no mitigation 
is specifically necessary the report does recommend that the implementation of measures to 
promote sustainable transport could reduce the mean roadside concentrations of traffic-related 
pollutants, it is concluded in the 'Highway Safety' section of this report above that a travel plan 
would be secured via a condition on any permission granted which will assist in this respect. 
 
As part of the consideration of the application the Council's Environmental Protection Team 
have been consulted and have raised no objections to the application. 
 
Although noting the concerns of the third party in the absence of an objection from the Council's 
Environmental Protection Team it is considered that the development is acceptable in relation to 
Policy En6 of the adopted Local Plan and Paragraph 181 of the NPPF. 
 
 
Residential Amenity 
The nearest residential receptors to the application site include Bardon House and The 
Vicarage, both on Bardon Road, which are set to the north of the site as well as The Lodge, 
Woodside Cottages, Forest House and Forest Lodge, also on Bardon Road, which are set to 
the north-east and east of the site. 
 
A noise assessment has been submitted in support of the application which has assessed the 
impacts to 11 sensitive receptors including noise from on-site noise generating activities as well 
as road traffic noise. It is outlined that the predominant noise sources in the area include road 
traffic noise from Bardon Road (A511), Beveridge Lane (B585) as well as noise from Bardon 
Quarry. 
 
The assessment concludes that as the development is outline in nature there are no precise 
details on the location or type of noise generating sources given that the exact location of 
buildings is not for approval at this stage. On this basis a 'worst-case' scenario has been 

27



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

adopted based on noise levels obtained at a development site which would be compatible with 
that proposed. Based on this assessment the operational development would not result in a 
'significant adverse impact' to health or quality of life with the impact of off-site road traffic noise 
not being perceptible given that it would be absorbed into the existing levels of noise generated 
by vehicular movements on the highway network. 
 
It is also concluded that the area around the application site is not highly prized for its tranquillity 
and recreational value in terms of noise and the operation of existing businesses would not be 
restricted as a result of the development. 
 
As part of the consideration of the application the Council's Environmental Protection Team 
have been consulted and they have raised no objections based on the conclusions reached in 
the noise assessment which does not require any noise mitigation to be provided. 
 
With regards to any lighting to be installed on the site it is considered that the imposition of a 
condition on any outline permission granted would ensure that precise details are provided at an 
appropriate time so as to ensure that no adverse impacts to residential amenity arise as a result 
of the provision of such lighting. 
 
In terms of the impacts on neighbouring occupiers arising from the proposed buildings 
themselves, whilst an illustrative masterplan has been submitted, all matters except part access 
are reserved for subsequent approval. The supporting documents indicate that the proposed 
maximum height to the underside of the haunch within the buildings would be 12.5 metres. 
 
The eastern boundary of the site would become shared with Forest House and Forest Lodge 
with these properties being set 17 and 21 metres, respectively, from this boundary. All other 
residential properties, identified above, lie on the opposite side of Bardon Road to the 
application site. On the basis of the illustrative masterplan the two units proposed within close 
proximity to the shared boundary, identified as 4a and 4b, would be set, at their closest points, 
13 metres (unit 4b) and 36 metres (unit 4a) away from the shared boundary which would lead to 
total distances of 65 metres between unit 4a and the western elevation of Forest Lodge and 40 
metres between unit 4b and Forest House. 
 
Whilst it is accepted that buildings to the heights and floor-spaces proposed would be of some 
scale it is outlined that the land levels on the site would be reduced so as to 'sink' the units into 
the ground with additional landscaping being introduced in close proximity to the shared 
boundary with Forest House and Forest Lodge. Notwithstanding the anticipated scale of the 
units it is considered that, in principle, a form of development could be provided on the site 
which would not result in undue loss of amenity by virtue of overshadowing, overbearing or 
other residential amenity impacts. Clearly, careful consideration would need to be given to any 
detailed proposals for units 4a and 4b, as well as the wider earthworks strategy for the site, 
submitted at the reserved matters stage(s) so as to ensure appropriate relationships between 
the proposed units and existing dwellings are provided. However, as set out above, there is no 
reason to suggest that the eventual form of development proposed at the reserved matters 
stage(s) would necessarily result in undue loss of amenity to adjacent occupiers, and the 
scheme is, at this outline stage, considered acceptable in this regard.  
 
Overall the proposed development would be compliant with Policy D2 of the adopted Local Plan 
and Paragraph 180 of the NPPF. 
 
 
 

28



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

Ecology 
As originally submitted the County Council Ecologist raised objections to the application given 
the requirement for a 10 metre corridor of natural open space to be provided to the north of the 
River Sence, so as to allow otters (a protected species) to access the river, as well the retention 
of the local wildlife site (LWS) (Bardon 22 grassland) situated to the south of the River Sence. 
 
Following amendments to the plans the County Council Ecologist has no objections subject to 
the imposition of conditions which secure the retention and appropriate management of the 
LWS, that the impact on Great Crested Newts (GCNs) is mitigated, that the corridor of natural 
open space is provided, that an updated badger survey is submitted and that light spill onto the 
River Sence is limited to 1lux or lower. Such conditions would be imposed on any permission 
granted. 
 
Natural England have also raised no objections to the application. 
 
Overall the proposed development would be compliant with Policies En1 and En2 of the 
adopted Local Plan, Paragraph 175 of the NPPF and Circular 06/05. 
 
 
Landscaping 
An arboricultural assessment submitted in support of the application identifies that 13 individual 
trees and 24 groups of trees (some of which comprise hedgerows) are present on the site with 
trees and hedges also being outside the boundaries of the site on land in the control of the 
County Highways Authority. 
 
As a result of the development existing hedgerows which define the boundaries of the 
agricultural fields internally within the site would be removed with there also being impacts to the 
hedgerow to the northern boundary of the site so as to enable the provision of the vehicular 
access. Whilst such impacts would arise both the County Council Ecologist and National Forest 
Company consider that the retention of the Local Wildlife Site (LWS) and provision of 
landscaping as suggested by the illustrative masterplan would mitigate against the loss of the 
hedgerows. 
 
Both the County Council Ecologist and National Forest Company would also consider it 
important for the planting to be provided to be of native species and that any earthwork bunds 
are left to vegetate naturally or planted with a neutral grassland wildflower mix.  
 
Given that landscaping is not for approval at this stage due regard would be given to the 
requirements of the National Forest Company and County Council Ecologist should a reserved 
matters application associated with landscaping is submitted. 
 
Overall the proposal would be compliant with Policies D1 and En3 of the adopted Local Plan. 
 
 
Drainage and Flood Risk 
The application is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment and Sustainable Drainage 
Strategy which identifies that land around the River Sence falls within Flood Zones 2 and 3 and 
that the area within the southern part of land within the ownership of the applicant is at a high 
risk of surface water flooding. The illustrative masterplan has been amended to ensure 
development is contained to land within Flood Zone 1 and which is not at risk from surface 
water flooding. 
 

29



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

As part of the consideration of the application the Environment Agency (EA) have been 
consulted and initially they objected to the application in light of the details not demonstrating 
that there would be no ground raising within Flood Zones 2 and 3. 
 
Following the receipt of further information the EA have removed their objection subject to the 
imposition of conditions which seek to ensure that there is no raising of land levels within Flood 
Zones 2 and 3, that the finished floor levels of the units are no lower than 164.1 metres above 
Ordnance Datum (AOD) and that land within Flood Zone 3 is retained as open natural amenity 
space. They have also requested that a revised remediation strategy(s) will be required should 
unidentified contamination be discovered during the construction phase. The imposition of such 
conditions will ensure that land designated to be flooded, when specific flooding events occur, 
will not be impacted on as a result of the development.  
 
In terms of surface water drainage the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) have been consulted 
and whilst not raising concerns to the application they have requested that the originally 
submitted sustainable drainage strategy is updated following revisions to the illustrative 
masterplan, supporting hydraulic calculations would  also be required. Amended information has 
been submitted to address these concerns which is currently under consideration with the LLFA. 
 
Whilst acknowledging that further comments are awaited from the LLFA it is considered that 
given they do not have concerns with the principle of the development the imposition of suitable 
conditions, which would be provided by the LLFA should their query be addressed by the 
revised information, would ensure that a suitable surface water drainage solution is provided 
during the construction of the development and throughout its lifetime that would not exacerbate 
any localised surface water flooding issue. 
 
Subject to the imposition of the relevant conditions the proposal would accord with Policies Cc2 
and Cc3 of the adopted Local Plan as well as Paragraph 163 of the NPPF. 
 
Insofar as foul drainage is concerned, it is indicated that this would be discharged to the mains 
sewer and again a connection would need to be agreed with Severn Trent Water under 
separate legislation.  Given the above conclusion it is considered that the foul drainage can be 
met by the existing sewerage system in place. On this basis the proposed development would 
accord with Paragraph 180 of the NPPF. 
 
 
Archaeology 
The initial comments of the County Council Archaeologist indicated that the site is located within 
an area of archaeological potential formed within a valley adjacent to a water source. It was also 
outlined that previous archaeological investigations in the vicinity included a geophysical survey 
and trial trench scheme at an Iron Age Roman site to the west, along with similar investigations 
at a prehistoric earthworks site. 
 
A heritage statement submitted in support of the application included a desk-based assessment 
for the archaeological potential of the site and following consideration of this document the 
County Council Archaeologist has confirmed that they have no objections to the application and 
that there is no requirement for further archaeological work to be undertaken. On this basis the 
proposal would comply with Policy He1 of the adopted Local Plan and Paragraph 199 of the 
NPPF. 
 
 
 

30



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

Developer Contributions 
A request has been made for Section 106 contributions towards transportation. These requests 
have been assessed against the equivalent legislative tests contained within the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010 (CIL Regulations) as well as Policy IF1 of the 
adopted Local Plan and Paragraphs 34, 54 and 56 of the NPPF. 
 
The requested development contributions are listed below. 
 
Transportation 
The contributions set out under the 'Accessibility' section of this report above include a financial 
contribution of £591,875.00 towards the improvement works in keeping with the Coalville 
Contribution Strategy, travel packs (which can be supplied by the County Highways Authority 
(CHA) at a cost of £52.85 per pack), 6 month bus passes (which can be supplied by the CHA at 
a cost of £360 per pass) and a travel plan monitoring contribution of £11,337.50. These 
contributions are considered to meet the relevant tests identified above and the securing of 
these contributions will assist in mitigating the impacts of the development on the highway. 
 
No other contributions have been requested and the applicant is agreeable to paying the 
relevant contributions. 
 
Subject to these contributions being secured within a Section 106 agreement the proposed 
development would be compliant with Policy IF1 of the adopted Local Plan and Paragraphs 34, 
54 and 56 of the NPPF. 
 
 
Other Matters 
In terms of the comments raised by the third parties which have not been addressed above it is 
considered that any works undertaken to the cycle path/footpath would have been works carried 
out by the County Highways Authority (CHA) and consequently if such works have resulted in 
drainage issues at the church this would be a matter to take up with the CHA directly. Any 
damage caused to parked vehicles associated with the church would also have no direct 
relevance to the proposed development. 
 
 
Conclusion 
Whilst the site is outside the defined Limits to Development Policy S3 of the adopted Local Plan 
does allow for new employment sites where evidence indicates an immediate need or demand, 
with such an assessment being against Part (2) of Policy Ec2 of the adopted Local Plan. In this 
instance the submitted analysis has demonstrated there is an 'immediate demand' and 
consequently the proposal is compliant with Policies S3 and Ec2 of the adopted Local Plan. The 
need for and the benefits of the development, in terms of the economic and social objectives of 
sustainability, are considered to outweigh the conflict with the environmental objective, due to 
the site's location in the countryside. On balance it is considered that the proposal would 
constitute sustainable development. 
 
Subject to conditions it is also considered that the proposal would not have any significantly 
detrimental impacts to the character and appearance of the visual landscape, the setting of 
heritage assets, highway safety, air quality, residential amenity, ecology, landscaping and 
archaeology, nor would the proposal exacerbate any localised flooding impact. There are no 
other relevant material planning considerations that indicate outline planning permission should 
not be granted and consequently the proposal is deemed to comply with the relevant policies of 
the adopted Local Plan, the Council's adopted Good Design SPD and the advice within the 

31



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

NPPF.  
 
It is therefore recommended that outline planning permission be granted subject to the 
conditions listed below, and subject to planning obligations to secure the various transportation-
related contributions as set out above. 
 
RECOMMENDATION - PERMIT, subject to a legal agreement and conditions and no 
objections being raised by the Lead Local Flood Authority; 
 
1 Timeframe for reserved matters. 
2 Approval of reserved matters details. 
3 Approved plans. 
4 Finished ground and floor levels as part of reserved matters. 
5 Design code. 
6 Limitation on floor space of B8 uses (small scale). 
7 Access provided. 
8 Revised Travel plan. 
9 Flood mitigation measures. 
10 Further remediation strategy. 
11 Surface water drainage. 
12 Biodiversity enhancements. 
13 Updated badger survey. 
14 Great Crested Newt mitigation. 
15 Tree and hedge management and protection plan. 
 
 
 
 
   
 
 

32



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

 
 
Reserved matters approval (access, appearance, landscaping, 
layout and scale) (outline planning permission 
13/00956/OUTM) for the enabling works associated with 
Phases A1, A2 and A3 including the demolition of the 
buildings at Upper Grange Farm and The Bungalow; regrading 
of the land; installation of the Gateway, the street to the west 
of the Gateway, and junction of the street to the east of the 
Gateway; installation of surface and foul water drainage 
infrastructure; landscaping; and diversion of Public Rights of 
Way 

 Report Item No  
A2  

 

Land South Of Grange Road Hugglescote Leicestershire   
LE67 2BT 

Application Reference  
19/00747/REMM  

 
Grid Reference (E) 443399 
Grid Reference (N) 312592 
 
Applicant: 
Harworth Group 
 
Case Officer: 
James Knightley 
 
Recommendation: 
PERMIT  
 

Date Registered:  
22 March 2019 

Consultation Expiry: 
20 June 2019 
8 Week Date: 
21 June 2019 

Extension of Time: 
None Agreed 

 
Site Location - Plan for indicative purposes only   

 
     

Reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office 
copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.  Licence LA 100019329) 

33

Agenda Item A2



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

Executive Summary of Proposals and Recommendation 
 
Call In 
The application is referred to the Planning Committee for determination on the basis of the 
Planning Committee resolution of 2 December 2014 in respect of the outline planning 
permission for the wider South East Coalville development. 
 
Proposal 
This is a reserved matters application for a range of enabling works on land forming part of the 
wider South East Coalville development. 
 
Consultations 
Objections have been received from Hugglescote and Donington le Heath Parish Council in 
respect of the proposals.  
 
Planning Policy 
The application site lies within Limits to Development as defined in the adopted Local Plan and 
is also identified as a site with planning permission for housing under Policy H1. 
 
Conclusion 
The proposed development is considered to represent an appropriate form of development in 
accordance with the outline planning permission, and would allow for any future detailed 
housing scheme to be submitted in subsequent reserved matters schemes on the site to provide 
for an acceptable standard of design to meet the Local Planning Authority's design objectives. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:-  
 
PERMIT, SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS  
 
Members are advised that the above is a summary of the proposals and key issues 
contained in the main report below which provides full details of all consultation 
responses, planning policies and the Officer's assessment, and Members are advised 
that this summary should be read in conjunction with the detailed report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

34



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

MAIN REPORT 
 
 
1. Proposals and Background 
 
This is a reserved matters application for a range of enabling works on a site of 31 hectares 
forming part of the wider South East Coalville development. The enabling works proposed 
include the following: - 
- Demolition of the existing buildings at Upper Grange Farm and the Bungalow; 
- Regrading of the land across the whole of the application site; 
- Provision of surface and foul water drainage infrastructure; 
- Diversion of existing Public Rights of Ways; 
- Installation of some of the road network within this parcel; and 
- Strategic landscaping within and surrounding the proposed attenuation basins. 
 
The original outline planning permission (ref. 13/00956/OUTM) was determined at the Planning 
Committee in December 2014, and issued in September 2016 following completion of a Section 
106 obligation securing contributions including in respect of affordable housing, travel plans, 
travel packs, bus passes, children's play / public open space / recreation, biodiversity 
enhancement, education, civic amenity, libraries and healthcare. An associated Section 278 
agreement between the applicants and Leicestershire County Council secured contributions 
towards off-site highways infrastructure. 
 
All matters were reserved for subsequent approval, and all five reserved matters for the phase 
to which this application relates (i.e. access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale) are 
included for consideration as part of this reserved matters submission. However, the outline 
planning permission was accompanied by an indicative development framework plan indicating 
the general location of built development, open space and highway infrastructure within the site, 
and has subsequently been subject to approved discharge of condition submissions in respect 
of a site-wide Masterplan (including Masterplan Statement), Design Code and a Vehicular 
Access Strategy.  
 
The approved Masterplan Statement includes a scheme of phasing; the works to which this 
reserved matters application relate to land to both the northern and southern side of the River 
Sence, and falling within Phases A1, A2, A3 and B4 (albeit the current proposals in respect of 
the land to the southern side of the river (Phase B4) would be limited to use for the storage of 
topsoil). The application does not include any details in respect of proposed soil storage as this 
is intended to be addressed by way of discharge of conditions in respect of the outline planning 
permission (and, in particular, as part of the proposed Construction Environmental Management 
Plan (CEMP)); submissions for approval of details under conditions have been submitted 
separately to the Local Planning Authority for determination in the usual way. 
 
 
2.  Publicity 
 
11 Neighbours have been notified. 
Site Notice displayed 18 April 2019. 
Press Notice published Leicester Mercury 1 May 2019. 
 
 
 
 

35



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

3. Summary of Consultations and Representations Received 
 
East Midlands Airport has no objections  
 
Environment Agency has no objections subject to conditions 
 
Ellistown and Battleflat Parish Council - no comments received  
 
Hugglescote and Donington le Heath Parish Council objects on the grounds that the 
proposals would harm the archaeological earthworks associated with Hugglescote Grange 
 
Leicestershire County Council Archaeologist comments awaited (and will be reported on the 
Update Sheet) 
 
Leicestershire County Council Ecologist has no objections subject to conditions 
 
Leicestershire County Council Lead Local Flood Authority has no objections  
 
Leicestershire County Council Highway Authority has no objections  
 
Leicestershire County Council Rights of Way has no objections subject to conditions 
 
National Forest Company has no objections subject to inclusion of native woodland planting 
within the proposed landscaping 
 
Network Rail has no objections  
 
North West Leicestershire District Council Environmental Protection team has no 
objections 
 
 
Third Party Representations 
None 
 
 
4. Relevant Planning Policy 
 
National Policies 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019) 
The following sections of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) are considered 
relevant to the determination of this application: 
 
Paragraphs 8, 11 and 12 (Achieving sustainable development) 
Paragraphs 47, 54 and 55 (Decision-making) 
Paragraphs 106, 109 and 110 (Promoting sustainable transport) 
Paragraphs 124, 127, 129 and 130 (Achieving well-designed places) 
Paragraph 163 and 165 (Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change) 
Paragraphs 170 and 175 (Conserving and enhancing the natural environment) 
Paragraphs 189, 190, 192, 197 and 199 (Conserving and enhancing the historic environment) 
 
Further advice is provided within the MHCLG's Planning Practice Guidance. 
 

36



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

 
Adopted North West Leicestershire Local Plan (2017) 
The application site lies within Limits to Development as defined in the adopted Local Plan and 
is also identified as a site with planning permission for housing under Policy H1 (site H1h). The 
following adopted Local Plan policies are considered relevant to the determination of this 
application: 
 
Policy D1 - Design of new development 
Policy D2 - Amenity 
Policy IF1 - Development and Infrastructure  
Policy IF4 - Transport Infrastructure and new development  
Policy En1 - Nature Conservation 
Policy En3 - The National Forest  
Policy He1 - Conservation and enhancement of North West Leicestershire's historic 
environment 
Policy Cc2 - Flood Risk 
Policy Cc3 - Sustainable Drainage Systems 
 
 
Other Policies 
Good Design for North West Leicestershire SPD 
 
Leicestershire Highways Design Guide 
 
 
5. Assessment 
 
Principle of Development 
The principle of development of this site was established by the grant of the original outline 
planning permission in September 2016 and, as a submission for reserved matters approval, 
the present application essentially seeks agreement of details in respect of the access, 
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale within the relevant parcels (insofar as they relate to 
the infrastructure works proposed at this time). Assessment of this application should therefore 
relate to the implications of the particular scheme proposed under this reserved matters 
application; issues relating to the principle of the development and associated matters are not 
relevant to this application.  
 
 
Other Matters Relating to the Outline Planning Permission 
In addition to a range of conditions requiring submission and approval of details in respect of 
various matters prior to trigger points such as commencement / occupation etc., the outline 
planning permission also requires certain matters to be included as part of the reserved matters 
application(s) (either for the site as a whole or the relevant phase). These conditions include 
requirements in respect of: provision of a masterplan (Condition 5); a Design Code (Condition 
8); a statement setting out how the Design Code has been complied with (Condition 9); details 
of modelling and buffer works relating to the River Sence (Conditions 11 and 16); a vehicular 
access strategy (Condition 27); a site-specific Travel Plan for the relevant phase (Condition 31); 
and details of continuous routes suitable for buses (Conditions 32 and 33). However, whilst 
these conditions generally require these matters to be submitted with the first reserved matters 
application for the relevant phase, the consortium has already sought to address the majority of 
these on a site-wide basis under separate discharge of condition applications, and the 
submission requirements under Conditions 5, 8, 11, 16 and 27 have, in effect, already been 

37



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

complied with. In terms of the remaining conditions referred to above, the following conclusions 
are reached: 
 
Condition 9: In accordance with the condition, the application is accompanied by a statement 
setting out how, in the applicant's view, the scheme meets the requirements of the approved 
Design Code, and the requirements of the condition are met. Officers' assessment of the 
scheme's performance against the Design Code is set out in more detail under the relevant 
sections below. 
 
Condition 31: The condition only applies to any reserved matters application relating to erection 
of buildings, so no submission is required in respect of this application. 
 
Condition 33: The condition only applies to the first reserved matters application submitted in 
respect of land to the south of Grange Road, and has already been submitted under application 
18/00341/REMM (erection of 49 dwellings) on land further west on Grange Road. The 
application documents submitted in respect of that application included a copy of the approved 
Vehicular Access Strategy which contains details indicating that the scheme would provide two 
continuous routes suitable for bus use through land to the southern side of Grange Road, one of 
which would connect a proposed new roundabout on Grange Road to a new one on Beveridge 
Lane (to the north of the Amazon unit). [NB Condition 32 provides for equivalent requirements in 
respect of land north of Grange Road, and no submission is therefore required in connection 
with this parcel; this was previously addressed under reserved matters application ref. 
18/00375/REMM.] 
 
 
Proposed Landform and Surface Water Drainage Measures 
Under the provisions of the approved Masterplan, a large area of green infrastructure (and 
including public open space and SuDS features) is proposed to be provided alongside the 
course of the River Sence, and the general form of development proposed in this area complies 
with the scheme set out on the Masterplan.  
 
In terms of site levels, a range of cut and fill type works are proposed in order to provide 
plateaus suitable for provision of dwellings (with the intention being that the developer would, at 
this initial stage, undertake these works and provide the principal east-west route such that the 
various development parcels would then be in place ready for their final development by 
housebuilders). The extent of the cut and fill would vary throughout the site but (excluding areas 
where SuDS basins are proposed to be formed) the increases or reductions in land levels 
compared to existing would typically be in the range of approximately 1 to 2 metres (albeit more 
than this in some cases, for example where greater excavation would be required to form SuDS 
features, or filling of existing voids). More significant cut and fill would be required towards the 
southern part of the site (i.e. away from the sections of the site where the principal built 
development would take place). This would be considered reasonable in the context of a 
scheme of this scale, and would be considered to have no unacceptable impacts beyond the 
site, nor in terms of the likely design quality of the eventual scheme.  
 
Insofar as providing a suitable means of attenuation and disposal of surface water is concerned, 
the outline planning permission is subject to conditions in this regard, and requiring a detailed 
scheme of surface water drainage to be submitted and approved. As such, the suitability of the 
features proposed to achieve the required discharge rates etc. is more a matter for the 
discharge of the outline planning permission conditions than this reserved matters submission.  
 
As set out above, submissions have previously been approved in respect of Condition 11 of the 

38



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

outline planning permission, but this submission nevertheless includes an updated Flood Risk 
Assessment relating to the majority of this specific section of the wider site; this has been 
assessed by the Environment Agency and the Lead Local Flood Authority and no objections are 
raised. 
 
In terms of the appearance of the proposed SuDS features (and whist this would remain a 
matter for discharge of conditions on the outline permission), the submitted details indicate that 
the proposed balancing facilities would, for the most part, have internal gradients of no steeper 
than 1:4 (and, as such, would have the potential to comply with the District Council's Good 
Design for North West Leicestershire SPD which seeks to avoid steeply-sided basins that 
require fencing, thus preventing them from becoming a useable part of the public open space 
network). Insofar as the proposed headwalls are concerned the applicant's agent confirms that 
the developer is assessing the position in terms of their finish, but indicates that a sandbagged 
appearance is likely to be achievable (i.e. as opposed to plain concrete), and which would 
appear reasonable. The agent has also confirmed that no fencing would be required. On this 
basis, it would appear at this stage that the proposed SuDS features would be capable of 
complying with the guidance in the Good Design for North West Leicestershire SPD. 
 
 
Highway Safety, Transportation and Access Issues 
As set out above, whilst the site is subject to an agreed vehicular access strategy, the details of 
the proposed means of access were reserved. Insofar as those elements of access proposed 
under this application are concerned, these would, in effect, be a section of the principal north - 
south route through the eastern part of the wider South East Coalville site (termed the 
"Gateway" in the approved Masterplan and Design Code), and an east - west route from the 
Gateway into the land within this parcel located to the western side of the Gateway. The 
Gateway would be accessed from the north via a proposed new roundabout on Grange Road 
(and the subject of a separate, full, application currently under consideration by the Local 
Planning Authority (ref. 19/00372/FULM)). 
 
Insofar as the specification for the routes proposed under this application is concerned, the 
Gateway is a specifically defined route typology in the Design Code comprising a 6.75m 
carriageway with a 2m wide footway to one side and 3m wide combined footway and cycleway 
to the other; the submitted plans comply with this typology. A raised pedestrian crossing point 
(with associated narrowed carriageway) is also proposed; again, this is allowed for in the Design 
Code. The Gateway street typology also requires provision of tree-lined verges with hedgerow 
behind separating the highway from dwelling frontages; the current application details only 
extend to the back of footway / combined footway and cycleway, and the landscaping elements 
would therefore need to be included as part of any detailed housing layout reserved matters 
application in due course. The proposed east-west route would be of the "Street" typology in the 
Design Code, comprising a 5.5m wide carriageway with 2m wide footway to either side; again, 
this would need to provide for landscaping to either side at the appropriate time. 
 
For its part, the County Highway Authority raises no objections; in particular it confirms that the 
position and layout of the roads would be acceptable in principle, and that the visibility splays at 
the proposed junctions on the Gateway would be in accordance with the Leicestershire Highway 
Design Guide.  
 
The County Highway Authority draws attention to a number of proposed block paved 
carriageway strips shown on the Gateway and queries their function. However, it is noted that 
these are features required under the provisions of the approved Design Code and would make 
a useful contribution to introducing character into the scheme, as well as assisting its legibility. 

39



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

Whilst the County Highway Authority's concerns over future maintenance are noted, it would 
appear to be open to the County Council to charge a commuted sum in the usual way and, 
furthermore, it is not considered that concerns of this nature would be material to the planning 
process (and the Local Planning Authority's assessment of how the proposed street network 
would contribute to the scheme's place making credentials). Similarly, the County Highway 
Authority draws attention to the proposed pedestrian crossing feature and, whilst noting, again, 
that this is a feature which accords with the Design Code, advises that supplementary measures 
such as advanced signage, safety audits and consideration of appropriate materials (including 
commuted sums) will be considered in detail during the Section 38 process.  
 
From the planning point of view, the County Council's preferred materials for adoption under the 
separate Section 38 process are not directly relevant in that the key issues here are considered 
to be whether (i) the scheme accords with the agreed Design Code; (ii) the scheme would 
provide for a satisfactory form of development in terms of the free and safe flow of traffic within 
the highway; and (iii) the scheme meets the place-making principles set out within the District 
Council's adopted Local Plan and SPD policies. Subject to the scheme being implemented in 
accordance with the agreed suite of materials specified in the Design Code, the proposals 
would be considered to comply with all of these requirements. It is also noted that the 
Leicestershire Highway Design Guide does not preclude use of alternative materials, and 
stating that "the aim in building new developments should be to create places and spaces 
(including adoptable highway areas) which are attractive, of high quality and have their own 
distinctive identity while respecting and enhancing local character. The Manual for Streets sets 
out that using local materials can strengthen local character by relating a layout to neighbouring 
developments". It is considered that the use of materials other than tarmac would be necessary 
in this instance in order to enable the design aspirations of the development to be met and, 
whilst precise details of materials are proposed to be secured by way of condition, it is 
considered essential that the materials ultimately agreed are of the nature established in the 
Design Code.  
 
Insofar as the "Street" is concerned, the County Highway Authority confirms that its geometry 
would accord with the Leicestershire Highway Design Guide. Given that the proposals do not 
include details of junctions serving development plots at this stage, the County Highway 
Authority takes the view that the exact location of traffic calming will need to be rationalised 
during the Section 38 process. From the planning point of view, it is appreciated that the precise 
location of the traffic features along the Street will to a degree be dependent on the eventual 
detailed layout, and it is recommended that conditions be attached allowing for their final siting 
to be agreed in due course. 
 
A number of rights of way (Footpaths N50, N52, N53 and N54) are affected by the proposals, 
and the proposals would result in the provision of pedestrian routes not following the existing 
public right of way routes on the definitive map. In particular, the route of footpath N54 which 
crosses the site east-west would be replaced by a new pedestrian link further south within the 
site, and passing through the proposed green infrastructure areas. Leicestershire County 
Council's Rights of Way team had initially raised a number of queries seeking clarification as to 
the rationale for the routes proposed, but now confirms that no objections are raised. 
 
In terms of the amenity impacts on rights of way, it is considered that the development of the 
site in itself would, inevitably, have some implications on the rural character of the affected 
routes (which, at this point, pass through currently undeveloped agricultural land / grassland). 
However it is accepted that some impacts will often be unavoidable when developing a 
greenfield site, and it is also acknowledged that the proposals would continue to provide what 
would, it is considered, be likely to be pleasant non-vehicular routes for walkers etc., and would 

40



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

form part of a broader network of pedestrian routes throughout the wider South East Coalville 
site. 
 
A number of conditions are requested by the County Council's Rights of Way team (albeit some 
of the conditions requested to be attached by the County Council would, in this instance, seem 
more appropriately related to the separate diversion / extinguishment process). The County 
Council's Rights of Way team's recommended conditions also include provision for tarmac 
surfacing be provided to all public footpath routes / diverted routes through the site. It is agreed 
that, in order to ensure that maximum benefit is gained in terms of encouraging journeys to be 
undertaken by foot, all-weather surfacing would generally be appropriate. Whilst it is 
appreciated that there may be differences in terms of future frequency of maintenance etc., in 
planning terms, however, there seems to be no overriding reason why a different surfacing 
(such as Breedon gravel) would not be just as appropriate as tarmac in terms of maximising 
suitability of use for all users. Moreover, in view of the intended rural / National Forest setting, it 
is considered that a visually "softer" finish may be more sensitive, and enhance the recreational 
value of the site. It is recommended that details of the actual materials used be subject to a 
condition requiring these to be agreed. 
 
 
Residential Amenity 
Insofar as this reserved matters application is concerned, there are no immediately affected 
neighbouring dwellings to the site, and it is therefore considered that the principal residential 
amenity issues relevant to this application would be in respect of any impacts during the site 
operations themselves (and including those associated with construction noise and dust etc.). 
Under the Environmental Statement mitigation measures conditions attached to the outline 
planning permission, a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) is required to be 
approved by the District Council for each phase prior to the commencement of work on that 
phase. As such, any potential amenity issues arising from the works would be able to be 
controlled under that mechanism. No objections are raised to the current reserved matters 
application by the District Council's Environmental Protection team. 
 
 
Trees and Hedgerows 
The application is accompanied by an Arboricultural Assessment identifying and categorising 
the existing trees on the site; the Assessment also considers hedgerows on the site (albeit a 
number of the hedgerows on the have already been removed since the time that the survey was 
undertaken (authorised under a separate Hedgerow Removal Notice application approved in 
March 2019 (ref. 18/02266/HRN)).  
 
In terms of the affected trees, the Arboricultural Assessment assesses a total of 32 individual 
trees and 25 groups, and identifies that two individual trees, one group, and parts of two groups 
would need to be removed in order to accommodate the proposed scheme. Save for one other 
tree identified as unsuitable for retention in any event, the proposed cut and fill operations and 
road layout would enable all other trees would be retained.  
 
Of the trees identified for removal in the Arboricultural Assessment in order to accommodate the 
development, one would be a hawthorn within retention Category B (moderate quality), and the 
other an ash within Category C (low quality). Insofar as the affected groups are concerned, one 
would be a group of larch (Category B), the southern portion of a group comprising a range of 
species (Category B), and a section of an elongated group of various species on the southern 
boundary where the future principal north-south route is proposed to pass through it (Category 
C). Given the limited impacts in terms of numbers and quality of trees affected, the proposals 

41



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

are considered acceptable in this regard.  
 
In term of the proposed green infrastructure, it is acknowledged that this is to a degree already 
addressed separately under the Section 106 agreement (and including in terms of its detailed 
layout, landscaping, provision of play equipment and long-term management) and in respect of 
which a separate scheme is required to be submitted and agreed for each phase of the wider 
South East Coalville development. However, in terms of the landscaping scheme submitted, the 
National Forest Company had made a number of comments including in respect of the specific 
species and planting sizes proposed, and the relationships between planting locations and 
pedestrian routes. The scheme has been amended in order to seek to accommodate the 
National Forest Company's recommended changes, and the National Forest Company notes 
that the majority of the changes it had suggested have been accommodated. However, it 
advises that a further change be made so as to ensure that areas of native woodland planting 
are also accommodated, and further amended plans have been submitted to address this. 
Should the National Forest Company make any further comments, these will be reported on the 
Update Sheet but, in any event, it is considered that the National Forest Company's 
requirements can be secured by an appropriately worded condition. 
 
 
Ecological Issues 
Whilst ecological and biodiversity issues were addressed in the outline planning application (and 
including within the Environmental Statement), the current reserved matters application is 
accompanied by a range of ecological reports, including an Ecological Appraisal, an Ecology 
Timetable and Mitigation document, and species specific reports in respect of water voles and 
otters, great crested newts and reptiles, and bats. 
 
In terms of the Ecological Appraisal, this concludes that the site is dominated by large 
compartments of species-poor grassland and tall herb / ruderal vegetation, with small patches of 
amenity grassland, ephemeral vegetation, hard standing and buildings. It also sets out the 
various enhancements to habitat included within the proposals, and assesses the potential 
impacts on protected species. 
 
These issues are in effect addressed under the outline planning permission and associated 
Environmental Statement mitigation, and various ecological requirements need to be satisfied 
prior to commencement on the relevant phase under the Environmental Statement mitigation 
measures. Nevertheless, the County Ecologist has assessed the submissions, and raises no 
objections. In addition, she has requested minor amendments to the species indicated on the 
proposed landscaping plans so as to enhance the proposed habitat creation; the scheme has 
subsequently been amended, and the revised proposals are considered acceptable by the 
County Ecologist subject to the addition of a condition setting out the detailed specification of a 
temporary bridge during construction works so as to ensure it is appropriate in terms of ensuring 
that wildlife movement is not hindered whilst it is in place. 
 
As such, the scheme would be considered to be acceptable in terms of its ecological and 
biodiversity impacts, and would meet the requirements of Local Plan Policy En1. 
 
 
Archaeological Issues 
Concerns have been raised by Hugglescote and Donington le Heath Parish Council in respect 
of archaeological issues and, in particular in respect of the potential implications on the site of 
the former Hugglescote Grange.  
 

42



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

At the time that the original outline application was considered, the County Archaeologist raised 
a number of concerns regarding the potential impacts on the archaeological interest of the area 
around Upper Grange Farm, given its interest and likely former use as a grange in the medieval 
period. In particular, concerns were raised regarding the impact on the remaining earthworks 
and former fish farming ponds; following amendments to the proposals, however, the County 
Archaeologist's concerns were addressed, and a condition was attached to the outline planning 
permission requiring the submission and approval of a scheme for in-situ preservation of 
remains prior to commencement of development within this phase. 
 
Insofar as the current application is concerned, the final comments of the County Archaeologist 
were awaited at the time of preparing this report, but it is understood that, given the location of 
the proposed works in relation to the area where in-situ remains are proposed to be preserved, 
no significant concerns are expected to be raised. Any comments subsequently received will be 
reported on the Update Sheet. 
 
It is therefore considered that, subject to the County Archaeologist confirming that no objections 
are raised to the application (and, subsequently, subject to the imposition of any necessary 
conditions in respect of appropriate mitigation for any archaeological implications of the 
development), the scheme would meet the requirements of Local Plan Policy He1 and the 
relevant historic environment-related policies of the NPPF. 
 
 
Conclusions 
As set out above, the principle of the development has already been established by way of the 
outline planning permission, and assessment is therefore limited to those issues falling within 
the reserved matters. 
 
The reserved matters scheme the subject of this application is considered to be acceptable, and 
would be considered to represent an appropriate (and proportionate) set of proposals necessary 
in order to enable the site to come forward for residential development in accordance with the 
outline planning permission. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION- PERMIT, subject to the County Archaeologist confirming that no 
objections are raised, and subject to the following condition(s): 
 
1 Compliance with outline planning permission  
2 Approved plans 
3 Landscaping (including amendments to provide native woodland planting) 
4 Tree Protection 
5 Compliance with details approved pursuant to outline planning permission conditions 

(and forming part of the reserved matters submission) 
6 Clarification in respect of proposed soil storage  
7 Pedestrian and cycle connections (including any works to public rights of way and other 

routes) 
8 Archaeology (if recommended by the County Archaeologist) 
9 Ecology (including specification of temporary bridge for use during construction) 
10 Flood risk and drainage (where not covered under the outline planning permission) 
11 Boundary treatment 
12 Highways Materials (including to transition strips, traffic calming and pedestrian 

crossing) 
13 Details of any markings, physical barriers / features and signage required in respect of 

43



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 2 July 2019  
Development Control Report 

the proposed pedestrian crossing 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 
 

44


	Agenda
	3. Minutes
	4. Planning Applications and Other Matters
	A1 18/01890/OUTM: Employment development for uses B1 (c), B2 and B8 (outline with details of part access included)
	A2 19/00747/REMM: Reserved matters approval (access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale) (outline planning permission 13/00956/OUTM) for the enabling works associated with Phases A1, A2 and A3 including the demolition of the buildings at Upper Grange Farm and The Bungalow; regrading of the land; installation of the Gateway, the street to the west of the Gateway, and junction of the street to the east of the Gateway; installation of surface and foul water drainage infrastructure; landscaping; and diversion of Public Rights of Way

